

Literature review to define knowledge gaps on the sustainable production of insects for feed

This literature search was written in context of the Interreg North-West Europe ValuSect project (NEW1004).

Written by:

Meggie Van Peer¹, Carl Coudron², Carlos Alvarez³, Jelle Adema⁴ Alison Kingston-Smith⁵ and Sabine Van Miert¹

- ¹Thomas More University of Applied Sciences
- ² Inagro
- ³Teagasc
- ⁴ Fontys University of Applied Sciences
- ⁵ Aberystwyth University

Contact: <u>sabine.vanmiert@thomasmore.be</u>

Publication date: June 2022



Introduction

This literature search is an addition to the literature review performed for work package one within the ValuSect project, in which different topics regarding the sustainable production of insects for food are considered. In the literature search of WP1, highly relevant knowledge was obtained in order to be able to conduct applicable and realistic experiments, to clarify questions from SMEs and companies regarding the sustainable production of insects, and to include the production of insects on side streams and the measurement of insect emissions. However, this literature search was limited to three insect species with potential in human food applications, namely the yellow mealworm (*Tenebrio molitor*), the house cricket (*Acheta domesticus*) and the migratory locust (*Locusta migratoria*). Meanwhile, the ValuSect project has been further extended for the inclusion of insect species.

The black soldier fly has gained increased attention recently due to its potential in many applications. For example, mass production of black soldier fly can result in several products such as protein (meal) and oil. This literature search focusses on the production of black soldier fly for animal feed applications, referring to the scope of the ValuSect project. The black soldier fly (BSF) (Hermetia illucens) is considered to have huge potential in animal feed applications due to some interesting properties of this insect species. For example, black soldier fly larvae can be produced with a lower environmental impact than conventional protein sources. They are able to consume organic waste and efficiently convert this lowvalue biomass into high-value components, making them a rich source of proteins. Therefore, black soldier fly larvae can possibly become a more sustainable protein source for animal feed than current sources. This insect species might be able to close the loop, making them a good fit within the circular economy strategy. However, before insects in general can become applicable as sustainable protein source, the production process needs to be optimal from an economical and productivity point of view. As the industrial production of insects for agricultural applications is a relatively new concept in Western countries, this is not yet the case.

The aim of this literature search is to define knowledge gaps on the sustainable production of insects used in animal feed. The focus is on the BSF insect, as this species is considered the most promising for animal feed applications. The knowledge here obtained will be used to plan and conduct relevant experiments aiming to fill the identified gaps and to contribute to the optimisation of the insect production process.

This literature search is carried out as part of the Interreg NWE ValuSect project (work package 5: insects for feed, activity 1: transferring knowledge build on insects for food to insects for feed), in which all project partners of work package 5, Activity 1 are actively involved. The aim of this literature search is to define knowledge gaps on the production of insects for feed applications.

The ValuSect project initially focused on 3 insect species suited for human food, namely Tenebrio molitor (yellow mealworm), Acheta domesticus (house cricket) and Locusta migratoria (migratory locust). During the ValuSect project, a call for capitalization regarding insects for feed has been submitted and approved, thereby including the black soldier fly (Hermetia illucens).

The objective of the ValuSect project is to enhance innovation performance of NWE agrofood companies by transferring knowledge on efficient use of insects and insect components as building blocks for new food and feed products. Goals of the project are (1) establishment of a transnational Accelerator program to support enterprises in realising new to the firm/ new to the market solutions and to transfer knowledge, (2) the quality improvement of insect production processes and (3) the quality improvement of insect processing procedure.

Table of contents

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	5
CLARIFYING THE ISSUE	6
BLACK SOLDIER FLY DIETS	8
BLACK SOLDIER FLY DIETARY REQUIREMENTS	8
Physical requirements	8
Nutritional requirements	9
Other requirements regarding diet	11
POTENTIAL DIETS FOR BLACK SOLDIER FLY REARING	13
Conventional diets	13
Diets based on low-valorised by-products	13
EMISSIONS	23
CARBON DIOXIDE	27
NITROUS OXIDE	27
Αμμονία	28
Methane	28
Odour	29
AUTOMATION OF THE BSF PRODUCTION PROCESS	31
DISCUSSION	35
BLACK SOLDIER FLY DIETS	35
BLACK SOLDIER FLY EMISSIONS	37
BLACK SOLDIER FLY PRODUCTION AUTOMATION	37
CONCLUSION & NEXT STEPS	39
REFERENCES	40

List of abbreviations

ADF	Acid detergent fiber
BSF(L)	Black soldier fly (larvae)
C/N ratio	Carbon nitrogen ratio
ECI	Efficiency of conversion of ingested food
FCR	Feed conversion ratio
U	Functional unit
NDF	Neutral detergent fiber
P:C	Protein carbohydrate ratio
VOC	Volatile organic compound

Clarifying the issue

The global population is expected to reach 9.7 billion people by 2050 [1]. Associated with this continuous growth, as well as the rising prosperity, is the demand for food, which is estimated to increase by 70–80% between 2012 and 2050 [2,3]. In addition, high amounts of biomass, related to the production and consumption of food, is lost [4]. Current food production has a profound impact on climate change and depletion of natural resources. For example, conventional livestock farming is responsible for about 15% of the total greenhouse gas emissions caused by human related activities [2,5]. Furthermore, soybean and fish meal, which can be extensively used as protein supplementation in some animal production systems, are also associated with a scarcity of resources to being produced, in order to satisfy the increasing demand that is leading to a decreased land availability, deforestation and overfishing. This not only puts pressure on the environment, but also on the economy as the prices of common feed ingredients are continuously increasing. As a result, the demand for alternative and more sustainable protein sources is rising [6–8]. Black soldier fly have equivalent protein contents to soybean meal and more crude fat than either fishmeal or soy, making them an excellent choice of feedstock [9].

Insects have the potential to alleviate the above-described societal challenges, and therefore, could be an attractive key player to the circular economy. Insects, generally, need less water leading to a lower water footprint and they can be produced in vertical farming systems, requiring less space compared to current animal protein sources [10-14]. On top of this, it has been reported that when insects are used for food purposes less energy and, therefore, less CO_2 equivalents are generated by kg of digestible material produced [15]. A big advantage of black soldier fly larvae is that they are capable of converting biomass efficiently to body mass, with lower FCR (feed conversion rate) than current livestock [16,17]. Moreover, black soldier fly larvae are reported as feeding on a broad range of substrates including wastes, leading to the potential of valorising side streams, at the same time that waste volumes are reduced. Furthermore, black soldier fly larvae require less time to complete their lifecycle, i.e. 2-3 weeks from egg hatching till harvestable larvae. Besides their high efficiency, insects also contain interesting nutritional aspects even when reared on low-value biomass, making them a rich source of proteins [18,19]. In addition, the black soldier fly insect is not considered a pest species as they do not have stinging or chewing mouthparts as an adult. Therefore, they do not approach humans, do not bite or sting, and do not transmit diseases by their mouthparts. Moreover, the lack of resilience of this insect species to lower temperatures prevents its invasion of cold and temperate regions (e.g. Northern Europe) [18,20-22].

Due to the above mentioned properties, the black soldier fly is considered a promising alternative feed ingredient feed alternative. However, the industrial production of insects is a relatively new concept in Western countries. Insects have been bred on a small scale for some time now, mainly as feed for hobby animals, but their application in livestock feed is virtually absent. This innovative character poses some challenges for the sector. For instance, the need for optimization and automation of the production process. Despite the fact that a lot of research has been done on insect breeding recently, this concept is still in its infancy. After all, most agricultural sectors can rely on 100's years of practical knowledge and experience, which has led to the high production efficiency of these sectors today. Insect producers have to invest in automation, optimisation and

upscaling of the processes in order to reduce costs and increase efficiency, to be competitive when compared to conventional feed products. In addition, insect protein is relatively expensive compared to current protein sources used in animal feeds, such as soy. Examples of methodologies by which insects can be produced more cost-effectively include the use of non-valorised side streams as insect feed, scaling up the processes and limiting manual operations [23–26].

Since the industrial production of insects is a relatively new concept in our Western society, there is a lack of knowledge and data on several topics and further optimizations of sustainable and upscalable production processes are needed. The objective of this literature search is defining knowledge gaps on the sustainable production of black soldier fly and obtain relevant information that will enable to fill these gaps.

Black soldier fly diets

The development of optimal insect diets has been identified as one of the major challenges for the insect production industry. Often, standard diets are used to feed the insects, however these are not specifically designed for the insects. For example, typically chicken meal is used as the diet for black soldier fly, or wheat bran for mealworms. These diets mostly do contain all necessary nutrients for the insects, but often not in optimal proportions. As a result, these diets lead to inefficient production, and possibly increased production costs [25,27,28].

One of the benefits of black soldier fly larvae is that they can efficiently convert low-value biomass into body mass consisting of high-value components such as proteins, fat and chitin. Furthermore, they are reported to be able to thrive on many different substrates, including low-value side streams or wastes [16,17,19]. This is likely to be due to the diversity of digestive enzymes in the gut of BSF compared with other insects, such as the common house fly [29].

The diet is crucial for the economics of insect production. Life cycle analyses (LCA) indicate that the production of black soldier fly larvae can be done more efficiently and cost-effectively if the larvae are reared on low-value biomass such as manure or wastes. In addition, rearing insects on low- and non-valorised organic streams would greatly lower their environmental footprint and increase the sustainability of the production process [6,18,23,26,30]. Consequently, interest in the production of black soldier fly larvae on side streams has increased over the recent years, resulting in many studies being generated [18,23,31,32]. As this topic has been widely explored, the focus of this literature search will be delineated to diets with the most potential for black soldier fly mass rearing. The focus will be on diets performing equally or better than standard diets in terms of larval growth and survival, end weight and conversion (if mentioned). Before optimal diets can be defined, the dietary requirements of black soldier fly larvae must be well understood, a topic also addressed in this chapter.

Black soldier fly dietary requirements

Physical requirements

The substrate in which BSF larvae live is of major importance in order to optimise growth. Not only do nutritional factors come into play, but several abiotic "physical" parameters can cause a substrate to be either hospitable or hostile for the larvae. These factors are hard to isolate as their influence is often interwoven with one another. Some of these factors, but not limited to, are;

• Particle size:

Particle size of the feeding substrate is shown to affect larvae growth. Palma et al. [33] tested almond hulls milled to different sizes and reported that the coarsest milled almond hulls (passing 6.35 mm) yielded larger larvae than larvae reared on the finer milled hulls (passing 4 mm).

• Substrate depth:

Substrate depth was tested by Brits [34] and he concluded that an optimal substrate depth was better not above 10 cm.

• Moisture content:

As reported by Holmes et al. [35] and Palma et al. [36] increasing BSF diets humidity up to 70 % is beneficial for larval growth. However, the presence of excessive moisture (liquid), negatively affects larvae [37].

• Aeration rate:

Aeration rate of the substrate will determine how much oxygen is available to the larvae. Passive oxygen exchange will be influenced by substrate depth, particle size (which might influence macro and micro pores), and humidity of the substrate (and associated water saturation of the pore structures). Improved aeration is shown to be beneficial for larvae growth as is shown by Palma et al. [36], they showed that mechanical aeration of the substrate improved larval yield fivefold for their specific rearing setup.

• pH:

Results from both Popa & Green [38] and Alattar [39] showed that BSF larvae were able to regulate pH of the substrate to a value to almost 9.0 with larval activity. Results from Alattar showed no survival of larvae on a substrate with pH 0.7. Consequently, it was concluded that black soldier fly larvae are not able to thrive on a substrate pH below 1.7 [39]. In the study of Ma et al. [40] different initial substrate pH values were investigated (2.0, 4.0, 6.0, 7.0, 8.0 and 10.0) for effect on growth performances of BSF larvae. pH values of 6.0 – 10.0 resulted in heavier final BSF pupal weights than lower pH values investigated. Larval activity increased pH values of the final substrate to 8.0-8.5, except for the lower initial pH values 2.0 and 4.0, which showed a final pH value of 6.0 [40]. In the research of Meneguz et al. [41] larval growth and development was examined on Gainesville diet (50 % wheat bran, 30 % alfalfa meal, 20 % corn meal) with pH 4.0, 6.1 (control), 7.5 and 9.5. In their study pH influenced larval weight at the beginning of the experiment: substrates with pH 4.0 had the lowest larval weight at the start of the experiment. However, larval activity increased the pH during the experiment and subsequently, no significant differences in larval final weight was found between different treatments [41]. It is important to note that abiotic conditions, such as pH, have an impact on the microbiota of the substrate. As microbial communities have an effect on organisms (e.g. interactions) (see 0), shifts in pH might indirectly impact BSF larvae [41].

Nutritional requirements

Proteins, carbohydrates and their ratio are among the most important nutrients to support insect growth and development [42–46]. In the study of Barragan-Fonseca et al. [47] nine chicken-feed based diets varying in their protein carbohydrate ratio were formulated, ranging from 45–79 % protein and carbohydrate content. Three protein concentrations (10 %, 17 % and 24 %) and three carbohydrate concentrations (35 %, 45 % and 55 %) and their combinations were included in the study.

Survival of the larvae did not seem to be affected by the different treatments. This was expected by the authors as they used diets containing macronutrient contents and ratios similar to those found for nutrient sources consumed by the black soldier fly larvae in nature. The results confirm that the black soldier fly larvae are able to thrive on a broad range of macronutrient ratios. On the other hand, development time and larval yield were influenced by the different treatments. However, it seems this was more affected by protein and carbohydrate content rather than the protein carbohydrate ratio. Low protein and carbohydrate contents resulted in a shorter development time. Larval yield showed a significant linear effect of carbohydrate content: larval yield was highest on the treatment with the highest carbohydrate content for all three tested protein contents. Larval yield decreased as the dietary carbohydrate concentration decreased. The authors concluded that a high macronutrient content combined with a low protein carbohydrate ratio positively affects *H. illucens* performance.

A review paper from De Smet et al. [48] includes the variety of substrates that have been tested for BSF rearing. Although the larvae were able to grow on many diets discussed, the length of time required for the insect to move from one life stage to another was remarkably affected. For instance, BSF feed with high protein content diets, performed poorer than the control group with a balanced diet. This was confirmed in a later study of Danieli et al. [49]: high protein diets were observed to have poorer yields. In addition, De Smet et al. [48] stated that high fibre diet lead to a cease on insects' development. This was supported by a paper published in 2021 by Norgren et al. [50]: substrates rich in complex carbohydrates (cellulose or mainly lignocellulose) are not appropriate for BSF diets. Finally, in the study of Liu et al. [51] the impact of lignin on BSF larvae, present in the diet, was determined. They concluded that all types of fibre addressed in their study (ADF, NDF, hemicellulose, cellulose, lignin) had a negative effect on larval growth (except hemicellulose), with lignin having the strongest impact.

In a Master thesis written by Michael Woods [52], it is stated that most of insects required 9 or 10 amino acids to be included in the diets (lysine, tryptophan, histidine, phenylalanine, leucine, isoleucine, threonine, methionine, valine, and arginine). However, although these are essential; and it is crucial to include a balanced mix of amino acids on their diets, it seems that a feed including this mixture of amino acids has not been specifically designed as per yet. The same authors state that the role of lipids has been underestimated in insect nutrition, which seems to be undersupplied in most of the diets. Particularly of relevance are sterols, which need to be from the right source (i.e. plant or animal) to satisfy insect requirements, and are essential nutrients since insects are not able to produce them. Similarly, the knowledge about vitamin requirements is very scarce [51], but it is usual that grains or seeds employed for diets do not contain enough vitamins, or none at all. It is then recommended to use fresh fruits or green tissues to supply water soluble vitamins, mainly ascorbic acid, when essential for the insects. Regarding lipid soluble vitamins, insects only need to get Vit A and Vit E from the diet. Finally, mineral nutrition is the most unknown for insect diets. They need sodium, potassium, phosphate and chloride; but don't have equal requirements to vertebrates regarding iron or calcium.

Experimental work in the Master thesis of Woods demonstrated that inclusion of sterol (from pork brains) yielded lower number of larvae, but significantly larger; also, that inclusion of blood meal (10% w/w) increased survival of the larvae [52]. Although manures are often considered the main feed there is a good potential to use green wastes (plant material) or non-food plant sources, e.g. seaweed [53], although in that work inclusion rates below 50% were optimal while still increasing omega -3 content of the BSFL.

It is clear that little work has been done on the nutritional requirements for insects to grow and develop in optimal conditions. Only a balanced diet incorporating all the essential nutrients will provide optimum results. In spite of a comprehensive search conducted over several data basis,

we could not find enough papers related to dietary requirements for BSF. The data bases employed were Google Scholar and Science Direct. The keywords are summarized in following table (Table 1). Publication date was not limited to expand the search. The most relevant papers were related to the protein carbohydrate ratio. No paper was found regarding the essential nutrients that BSF may require in order to proper grow and develop. It needs to be noted than only the first 50 results coming from the data base search were reviewed.

Data base	Keywords	Papers found	Papers with the right information
Google Scholar	"black soldier fly" AND dietary AND requirements	8930	1
	"black soldier fly" AND limiting AND nutrients	3300	1
	"black soldier fly" AND requirements AND nutrients	7640	1
Science direct	"black soldier fly" AND dietary AND requirements	255	0
	"black soldier fly" AND limiting AND nutrients	156	0
	"black soldier fly" AND requirements AND nutrients	361	0

Table 1: keywords of literature search on BSF nutritional requirements

Other requirements regarding diet

Interaction with microbiota

The microbiota associated with the feed substrate and the insect gut seems to play an important role for substrate processing by BSF larvae. De Smet et al. [48], pointed out that many industries after sterilising the substrates found low conversion rates and growth. To overcome this they are inoculating the "clean" substrate with a small amount of "dirty" substrate from a previous rearing cycle. Larva gut microbiota are essential for efficient food conversion; it seems that a versatile core bacteria population supports the digestion of the substrate components. Supporting these results, Jiang et al. [54] found that the substrate may be colonised with bacteria coming from the insect gut, facilitating the digestion and reduction of persistent materials such as lignin or cellulose. As well as providing a diverse source of enzymes to digest the substrate the high pH of the gut appears to aid in sterilising the substrate [55]. This indicates that the gut microbiota are a specialised group that can persist in an extreme environment.

Investigations into the BSF gut microbiota has gained increased attention in the last years. As highlighted by Klammsteiner et al. [56], gut microbiota seems to be very stable over the larval

phase, regardless the substrate employed. It needs to be mentioned, that substrates employed in this research had a very low bioburden load. It was suggested that the ability of larvae to generate antimicrobial peptides will act as a barrier for extrinsic bacteria colonisation, supporting the original microbial population diversity over time. Similar results were observed by Shelomi et al. [57], where two different substrates were fed to BSF (soy pulp and cafeteria waste); it was suggested that gut larva microbiome is highly preserved and the microbes were similar in a high percentage; in spite of the fact that the initial microbiome on the substrates were totally different. It has also been suggested that antimicrobial peptides are produced within the BSF gut, also as a tool to control the microbiome of the substrates. This is supported by work of Vogel et al. [58] who demonstrated diet-dependent changes in expression of antimicrobial proteins by BSF gut bacteria. They identified 53 genes for antimicrobial proteins. Most differential expression with the standard diet was due to a diet high in protein or oil, least change was observed with cellulose based diets. Also, these authors suggested that BSF maintains its own core microbiome, which is highly dependent on the location and feed, although it seems that remains somehow constant even if the diet is modified. Wynants et al. [59] described that although gut microbiome can adapt to the different diets, the similarities between substrate and gut population is very low.

Some authors support the theory that BSF gut microbiota can be manipulated through the substrate composition. Klammsteiner et al. [60], published that different diets can have an impact on gut microbiotal populations (when comparing olive and canteen wastes), however it was found that differences in the main metabolic pathways were not that clear. Authors indicated that larvae can use a specific "genetic toolkit" rather than expressing specific genes. It means, that although some changes are observed in microbiota populations, metabolic pathways remain stable.

Using companion bacteria to inoculate manure has been already discussed in the corresponding section, where it was demonstrated that these practises can improve the insect performance. However, it is not clear what the mechanism underlying this improvement is. As demonstrated by Kooienga et al. [61], bacterial supplementation needs to be evaluated at different production levels, since not all bacteria perform equally when compared to lab or pilot plant scale; this will lead to the use of targeted microbes for their industrial application.

In conclusion, it can be said that the gut microbiome may be affected by the diet, to some extent; however, gut population has no similarity with the microbe communities found in the substrate. There is a core microbiome, which remains stable and is dependent on insect location. It seems that, although some gut microbiome changes can be observed over time, the main metabolic pathways expressed by the gut microbiome remains constant. This is due to the relevant role that these microorganism play to provide nutrients to BSF larvae.

The potential for use of BSF to produce high value product was shown by Zheng et al. 2012 who used rice straw as a substrate for BSF growth but supplemented with a microbial inoculum to produce lava oil. While they called this biodiesel other researchers have used this as a nutrient for chicken rearing [43], in which it compared well with corn and coconut oils.,

Further research should be focused on identifying what microbiota species are present in the gut of very efficient insects in terms of growth and conversion ratios; as well as, what type of metabolic pathways are being provided for such microorganisms. Identifying them and how they help BSF to process substrate could be of help to design strategies to treat the substrates, which allow BSF to be more efficient when converting food wastes into high quality protein.

BSF feeding strategy

A recently published paper, focused not only of the substrate composition, but also on the feeding strategy to optimize feed conversion of black soldier fly larvae. In general, it was observed that providing continuous feed resulted in better conversion rate regardless of the substrate employed [62]. These results are supported by other research, in which it was proved that a batch feeding system showed the highest body weight [41]. In addition, a preliminary experiment of Barragan-Fonseca et al. showed that black soldier fly larvae fed all at once rather than three times per week reached a higher biomass [47].

It should be noted that nutritional content of BSF varies according to lifecycle stage. Liu et al. [63] found that maximum protein was achieved in the early larval stages, maximum fat was achieved at the pre-pupal stage.

Potential diets for black soldier fly rearing

Conventional diets

Even though it is not designed specifically for insects, commercial chicken feed is often used as a reference diet for black soldier fly, when reared for research purposes [17,19,21,64]. Furthermore, black soldier fly larvae are reported to perform well on diets developed for the rearing of *Musca domestica* such as the Gainesville diet (50 % wheat bran, 30 % alfalfa meal, 20 % corn meal) [65]. Therefore, this diet is also traditionally used as a standard [21,32,66,67]. It has been reported that both diets are equally suitable for rearing black soldier fly [68].

Diets based on low-valorised by-products

When referring to low-valorised products this means by-products or side streams from the food/feed industry that are composted, wasted or used for purposes such as anaerobic digestion, incineration and land-filling. Higher valorisations of these products might be possible, such as usage in insect feed. However, these type of diets often face challenges such as legal restrictions. For example, insects reared within the European Union are considered to be "farmed animals" (Reg. 2017/893), and, therefore, several restrictions are applied for their diets (Reg. (EC) 1069/2009). Hence, it is prohibited to use certain materials such as slaughterhouse or rendering-derived products, manure, catering waste or unsold products from food industries or retailers that contain meat or fish. However, legal restrictions will not be taken into account in this section as this is not the scope of this literature review.

Black soldier fly larvae have been indicated as one of the most appropriate insect species for the valorisation of low-value organic by-products [69,70]. For several reasons as discussed above, i.e. sustainability, economics, diets containing low-valorised ingredients are considered the most promising for BSF mass rearing. In a review paper published in 2018 [48], the huge variety of diets that have been tested with BSF (from fruits waste, to manure or seaweeds or animal cadavers) were highlighted as well as how the insects were able to grow in all of them.

As BSF rearing on by-products has been widely explored, this review will mainly focus on streams with highest potential to be used as BSF feed.

Catering waste

One of the most promising side stream based diets for black soldier fly larvae rearing is 'swill', i.e. catering waste. In a recent study of Veldkamp et al. [64] different biowaste diets were tested, i.e. solid pig manure, swill, olive pulp, pig manure liquid mixed with chicken feed and silage grass. Chicken feed was used as a reference diet. The study reports significantly higher growth rates of larvae reared on swill (13.4 mg/day) than found for the reference diet chicken feed (7.2 mg/day). Furthermore, the waste reduction index of larvae reared on swill as well as the ECI (efficiency of conversion of ingested food) was higher than found on any of the tested diets including the control (Table 2). The larvae fed with swill were able to convert the substrate completely into larval biomass and frass.

Substrate	Day of harvest	ECI (g:g DM)	Waste reduction index (DM g/d)	Larval growth rate (mg/d)	Larval end weight (mg)
Chicken feed (control)	8	0.34	4.5	7.2	69
Swill	8	0.46	10.6	13.4	119

Table 2: Overview of relevant results (catering waste) from the study of Veldkamp et al. (2021) [64]

Manure

An overview of the different studies discussed in this section is presented in Table 3.

Manure has been broadly studied for the last 25 years as a promising substrate for the rearing of BSF; although earlier research can be found in the 1970s. Such research was based on the fact that BSF uses manure as a substrate in nature, and therefore, seemed to be a good avenue to reduce the impact of farming on the environment by recycling manure into a more nutritive biomass.

In the research of Miranda et al. [71] manure from swine, dairy and poultry were compared as BSF substrates with Gainesville diet (50 % wheat bran, 30 % alfalfa meal, and 20 % corn meal). Results showed differences in parameters for larvae fed different manure types. The authors stated this is probably due to the difference in nutritional value of the manure types. In general, larvae fed dairy manure performed poorer in terms of development time and survivorship compared to those fed poultry or swine manure. Larvae fed the control Gainesville diet had the shortest development time, the highest survival rates, and produced the heaviest prepupae. However, as shown by the growth curve presented in the study, larval end weight did not differ significantly across larval diets (Figure 1).



Figure 1: growth curve of larvae produced on manure and control diet, derived from de study of Miranda et al. [71]

In the study of Broeckx et al. [19] 12 different side streams were tested as potential substrate for the rearing of BSF, including chicken manure. Treatments were compared to two control diets: chicken feed and Gainesville diet (Table 4). Larvae fed chicken manure performed better than the control Gainesville diet in terms of bioconversion efficiency (significant 15.43 % \pm 1.65 %VS 7,72 % \pm 1.46 %), FCR (2.00 \pm 0.33 VS 3.43 \pm 0.74) and larval mean maximum weight (significant, 134.9 mg \pm 11.8 VS 83.8 mg \pm 13.8). Larvae reared on the control chicken feed performed better than larvae fed chicken manure in terms of bioconversion efficiency, FCR and larval mean maximum weight , but no significant differences were found.

Regardless of the potential, there are still some unknowns on how manure properties (physical and chemical) are affecting BSF performance and efficacy and further optimisation of this potential diet is needed.

Some authors reported that mixing manures of different origin may be of benefit. For instance, since dairy manure is too high in fibre and low in nutrients, it can be mixed with chicken manure, and it was suggested that a ratio of 40% beef/ 60% chicken manures was optimal for conversion and manure mass reduction. However, no detailed information about initial manure compositions was provided, it was just reported that C/N proportion was higher for dairy manure compared to chicken (21.8 vs 15.7), which may be indicative of higher fibre content [72]. This research provided the information required to confirm that BSF is able to degrade cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin, with better efficiency when the C/N ratio is kept around 14 with an initial pH of 7.8. Further research from the same authors confirmed that using assisting bacteria (showing exogenous lignocellulosic activity) could further improve the outcomes for survival, development time and efficiency [73]. In this line of research, it has been reported that bird manure may be a better substrate for BSF in terms of feed conversion, but also on the quality of the amino acid profile of the insect when used as feedstuff [74]. When quail manure was added to regular wheat bran to feed BSF, it was observed that a 40% inclusion of manure led to a significant improvement on insect performance, but also to a different body mass composition (higher amounts of w-7 and wp fatty acids were detected) [74].

Trying to optimize the use of manure, and to overcome some potential lack of nutrients, other food by-products have been used to reinforce manure composition, to avail for better BSF performance. In a study conducted in 2007, cow manure was mixed at different ratios with fish offal [75]. The larvae collected at the end of the study had a significant higher body weight when a 25% of fish offal was incorporated. However, once again, a detailed description of the substrate composition was not provided [75]. Horse and sheep manure were supplemented with vegetables waste (ratio 1:1) and compared to 100% manure. In general, body weight was increased when the mixture was employed, with better results for sheep manure with the incorporation of vegetable wastes. This substrate was determined to be the highest in protein content and the lowest in fibre content. Mortality was not remarkably affected, but for 100% sheep manure, where it was higher than the other substrates [76]. Rehman et al. [77], incorporated soybean curd residue to dairy manure. The authors suggested that dairy manure, due to its high fibre content, might be difficult to digest by BSF. Results concluded that an optimal C/N ratio needs to be found for a proper BSF larvae growth, along with initial pH (as reported by other authors). In this case, a 16.2 ratio and initial pH of 6.7 was found to be the best one among the different treatments tested. However, this optimal ratio may vary depending on the type of manure and the type of supplement provided. It was highlighted that high fibre content also contributes to the pH buffer capacity of the media, to keep this parameter stable over the rearing process, which may be of benefit [77]. Based on the data provided, our interpretation is, that BSF may have a more balanced intake of protein and fibre as energy sources at lower C/N ratio, i.e. if organic nitrogen is available, this may lead to a better feed conversion and bioconversion efficiency. In this regard, Cammack et al. [78] studied the impact of the moisture level, protein content and carbohydrates content in BSF development. Moisture was determined as the main factor, with a value of 70% being preferable. On the other hand, a balanced diet (21% protein and 21% carbohydrate) lead to the fastest larvae development: however, all experimental diets performed poorer than control (Gainesville diet), indicating that other factors are playing a role, such as associated microbiome, since these diets were artificially manufactured.

A more recent approach, is to inoculate the manure with companion bacteria. Mazza et al. [79], used strains isolated from BSF eggs and gut. Media Inoculated with a combination of four bacteria was found to promote higher weight gain, highest manure reduction and increased crude protein content in the final BSF biomass. However, why bacteria are improving the BSF performance is unclear.

In a very recent review paper [80], it was highlighted that BSF efficiency to convert manure into insect biomass depends mainly on manure temperature and pH, type of manure, if a co-digestion process is taking place and the strain of *H. illucens* used, as well as the population densities employed. Optimal temperatures were found to be in the range of 27 °C to 30 °C; at the lower temperature range females were heavier, but it took 4 days more for them to complete larval and pupal development [81]. Regarding pH, an initial value of around 8 was stated as optimal in terms of larva development ratio, weight gain and development time. Although pH may change over time, due to the insects activity [40].

Table 3: Overview of relevant results (manure) from different studies discussed

Reference	Substrate	Developing time (days)	Bioconversion (%)	Feed conversion rate	Substrate reduction (%)	Mortality (%)	Dry mass(%) of live weight BSF
	Dairy Manure and chicken manure (mixed at different proportions)	18-22	4.2-9.9	5.6-10.3	43-55	1.6-10.5	19.5-23.2
Ur Rehman et al. (2017) [77] ¥	Dairy manure and soybean curd	19-23	6.3-15.2	3.2-6.2	26-72	1-9	21.4-26.5
Myers et al. (2014) [82] ¥	Dairy manure	26-30	NA	NA	35-59	15-29	NA
Alyokhin et al. (2018) [83] ¥	Horse manure	25.75	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

North-West Euro	pe						
Miranda et al. (2020) [71]	Poultry manure	14	NA	NA	46	22 (% of prepupation)	NA
	Dairy manure	16	NA	NA	48	55 (% of prepupation)	NA
	Swine manure	15	NA	NA	33	27 (% of prepupation)	NA
	Gainesville	13	NA	NA	NA	12 (% of prepupation)	NA
Ur Rehman et al. (2019) [73]¥	40 % dairy and 60 % dairy manure with bacteria	19	10.8	4.5	48.7	0.9	NA
El-Dakar et al.	Quail manure	30	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
(2021) [74] ¥	Goat manure	26	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Poultry manure	26	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

Interreg 🔘

	North-West Europ ValuSect	AN INST De						
	Julita et al.	Horse manure	22.6	NA	NA	NA	26.4 (prepupal)	NA
(2018) [76]¥	(2018) [76]¥	Sheep manure	26.0	NA	NA	NA	32.4 (prepupal)	NA
Mazza et al. (2020) [79]¥	Mazza et al.	Chicken manure	NA	7.42	NA	49.2	NA	NA
	(2020) [79]+	Chicken manure + single bacteria	NA	7.3-8.8	NA	46.7-53.6	NA	NA
		Chicken manure + poly- bacteria	NA	8.0-10.4	NA	48.6-52.9	NA	NA

¥: No control diet was used. NA: not reported.

Table 4: Overview of relevant results (manure) from the study of Broeckx et al. (2021) [19]

Substrate Time to Bioconversion FCR reach Efficiency (%) max. weight (days)	Waste reduction (%)	Survival (%)	Maximum mean larval weight (mg)
---	---------------------------	-----------------	---------------------------------------

Interreg North-West Eu ValuSect							
Gainesville (control)	8	7,72 ± 1.46	3.43 0.74	±	45.9 ± 5.7	97.2 ± 1.8	83.8 ± 13.8
Chicken feed (control)	7	17.56 ± 3.37	2.08 0.35	±	49.9 ± 9.6	96.3 ± 1.9	148.4 ± 21.8
Chicken manure	8	15.43 ± 1.65	2.00 0.33	±	36.4 ± 13.1	97.7 ± 1.4	134.9 ± 11.8

Brewery by-products

In the study of Jucker et al. [84], different diets based on brewery by-products were tested and compared to the standard diet (mixture of 50 % wheat germ, 30 % alfafa, 20 % corn flour + water): 1) brewers' spent grain, 2) chopped brewers' spent grain, 3) trub¹ and 4) mixture of brewers' spent grain and trub (1:1). The larval growth curve and end weight presented in the study shows no significant difference between the control diet and the mixture of brewers' spent grain with trub. Also larval development time of the mixture diet was significantly similar to the standard diet, with a mean of 18.7±0.3 days to reach prepupal stage. Other tested diets were found less suitable for BSF rearing. Nevertheless, authors stated that BSF was able to feed, survive and complete its lifecycle on all tested diets.

Substrate	Larval development (days)	Mortality	Final larval weight (mg)
mixture of 50 % wheat germ, 30 % alfafa, 20 % corn flour (control)	15.3 ± 0.3	low	235 ± 0.002
Brewers' spent grain	24.7 ± 0.3	Comparable to control	86 ± 0.003
Chopped brewers' spent grain	33.0 ± 2.3	Comparable to control	87.3 ±0.007
trub	28.3 ± 1.9	Highest mortality (significant)	180 ± 0.008
brewers' spent grain + trub (1:1)	18.7 ± 0.3	Comparable to control	244 ± 0.011

Table 5: Overview of relevant results (brewery by-products) from the study of Jucker et al. (2019) [84]

In the study of Broeckx et al. [19], beer draff was tested as potential diet for BSF rearing and compared with two standard diets: chicken feed and Gainesville diet. Maximal mean larval weight of larvae fed beer draff did not differ significantly to larvae fed the control chicken feed. Maximal mean larval weight of larvae reared on beer draff was found significantly higher (130.9 mg \pm 19.6) than larvae fed the control Gainesville diet (83.8 mg \pm 13.8). In terms of bioconversion efficiency, larvae fed beer draff did not differ significantly from larvae fed chicken feed, however, larvae fed beer draff showed significantly higher bioconversion efficiency (13.91 \pm 0.40) than larvae reared on the Gainesville diet (7,72 \pm 1.46). The authors reported a lower development time (the number of days between the start of the experiment and the day of harvesting) for larvae fed beer draff (7 days) than larvae fed the Gainesville diet (8 days).

¹ trub is the term used for the material, along with hop debris, left in the whirlpool or hopback after the wort has been boiled then transferred and cooled

Substrate	Time to reach max. weight (days)	Bioconversion Efficiency (%)	FCR	Waste reduction (%)	Survival (%)	Maximum mean larval weight (mg)
Gainesville (control)	8	7,72 ± 1.46	3.43 ± 0.74	45.9 ± 5.7	97.2 ± 1.8	83.8 ± 13.8
Chicken feed (control)	7	17.56 ± 3.37	2.08 ± 0.35	49.9 ± 9.6	96.3 ± 1.9	148.4 ± 21.8
Beer draff	7	13.91 ± 0.40	2.32 ± 0.17	46.2 ± 10.4	95.2 ± 3.1 a	130.9 ± 19.6

Table 6: Overview of relevant results (brewery by-products) from the study of Broeckx et al. (2021) [19]

Emissions

As insects are considered an alternative protein source, it is relevant to map the emissions related to insect production, especially when reared on side streams. It is well known that livestock agriculture (i.e. ruminant, pig and poultry) is a significant contributor to the production of greenhouse gas emissions. The FAO has reported that total emissions from global livestock equate to 7.1 gigatonnes of Co2-equiv per year [85].

In the literature search of work package 1 (activity 3) the emissions related to the rearing of *T. molitor, A. domesticus* and *L. migratoria* as well as measurement of emissions are discussed. Relevant emissions include carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, ammonia and atmospheric particulate matter. Methane was found irrelevant for the species in scope as earlier studies showed no or minor methane production was detected for *T. molitor, A. domesticus* and *L. migratoria* [86–88]. While exploring the insect emission topic, it became clear that research and data is often lacking or even missing. For example, no data was found on emissions during a full rearing cycle.

Building on the information of the WP1Act.3 report, the literature search will be expanded with inclusion of the black soldier fly insect and emissions relevant for this species. The focus is on direct emissions, i.e. originating from metabolic processes. Black soldier fly larvae can be reared in an array of substrates that vary in moisture content, pH, C/N ratio, etc. Furthermore, they exhibit a complex interaction with microbiota that develop simultaneously. Not only will the starting conditions vary, but the substrate will evolve over time as well, exhibiting variable emission patterns. Measuring methods and techniques of these emissions are included.

Table 7: Overview of the literature regarding emissions related to BSF rearing

	Substrate	FCR (dry feed/kg live larvae)	CO₂ (g/kg dry matter larvae biomass)	CH₄ (mg/kg dry matter larvae biomass)	N₂O (mg/kg dry matter larvae biomass)	N (g/kg dry matter larvae biomass)	Rearing conditions	Duration
Mertenat <i>et al.</i> (2019) [89]	Kitchen waste (fruit and vegetable raw peeling as well as cooked food remain such as rice and vegetables. Carbon-to- nitrogen ratio (C/N) of 15– 20			5.5	118		10,000 larvae per 15 kg substrate (in 3 feedings) in 60 x 40 cm crates	

Guo <i>et</i>	Food waste from	3.5	14,000 larvae per
al.(2021)	households, restaurants		25 kg substrate
[90]	and canteens mixed with		(daily feeding) in
	rice hull powder (ratio 4:1)		30 x 26 cm crates

North-West E ValuSect	urope							
Parodi et al. (2020) [91]	7% ProtiWanze®, 47% DB- Blend and 6% binding agent, and had an acid pH (near to pH 4)	2.2	2750 ± 314	28 ± 29	53 ± 27	1.2 ± 0.7	10,000 larvae per 4 kg substrate (fed once) in 50 x 30 crates	7 days
Pang et al.	Food waste from	17.6	4339	9.8	81.1	6.1	1,800 larvae per	10 days
(2020) [92]	restaurants mixed with	3.9	1745	8.4	5.6	2.6	1.2 kg substrate	
	chopped rice straw (ratio	3.4	1377	11.3	8.0	8.2	(fed once)	
	9:1) and pH correction	2.9	1058	21.3	7.6	11.2		
	(3.0, 5.0, 7.0, 9.0 and 11.0) (35% DM)	2.4	603	9.2	1.4	8.7		
F		1.4	1750 - 170	40 + 20	24 - 42		700 1	14
et al. (2019) [93]	from a canteen) (25 % DM)	1.4	1750 ± 170	49 ± 29	21 ± 13		1.18 kg substrate (in 3 feedings) in 21 x 17 cm crates	14 days
Parodi et al. (2021) [94]	Pig manure which consisted mainly of fresh faeces (i.e., maximum 2- day old) that	2.2	1956 ± 105	10,066 ± 2,652	6 ± 14	58 ± 7	20,000 – 25,000 larvae per 18.83 kg substrate (fed once) in 100 x 50 cm crates	8.7 days

Interreg 🔘

North-West Europe

	were in contact with the urine present on the floor (23.9 % DM)							
Pang et al.	Pig manure and corncob	4.6	1409	9924	13.4	12.6	1,600 larvae per	12 days
(2020) [95]	mixtures with a varying	4.2	1517	9202	13.6	7.8	1.0 kg substrate	
	C/N ratio (15, 20, 25, 30,	3.8	1636	5285	9.8	5.1	(fed once) in 3 L	
	35) (30% DM)	4.1	1732	1746	13.7	3.3	glass bottles	
		4.9	1726	1111	18.9	1.6		
Chen et al.	Fresh pig manure and	315.3	30190	937	81.1	548.3	450 larvae per	8 days
(2019) [96]	corncob (2.2:1 ratio ww	67.4	12520	385	17.3	136.2	159.5 g dry matter	
	basis) with a varying	16.4	5609	257	11.7	25.0	in 3 L glass bottles	
	moisture content (45%,	6.5	3556	744	1.7	9.6		
	55%, 65%, 75%, 85%)	18.3	6160	199,989	13.1	21.0		

Carbon dioxide

Due to the active microbial population that grows alongside the black soldier fly larvae in the rearing substrate, observed carbon dioxide emissions are always a combination of the metabolic activity of both. Parodi et al. [91] estimate that microbial metabolism contributes for 34% of the total carbon dioxide emissions. The median of all published data reported in Table 7 amounts to 1745 g of CO_2 per kg of dried larvae, which is in the same order of magnitude of that of the results published for other insect species such as *Tenebrio molitor* (1031 g CO_2), *Acheta domesticus* (1468 g CO_2) and *Locusta migratoria* (734 g CO_2) [86].

Measurement

For the measurement of the carbon dioxide concentration in the air, different techniques are available and all techniques have both advantages and disadvantages.

- The NDIR CO2 sensor works with a NDIR (non-disruptive infrared) light source of 4.26 μm. On this basis with the amount of light (or the lack of light) that reaches the sensor the CO2 concentration can be determined. Cross-sensitivity with water vapour (humidity) is reduced by using this light frequency [97].
- Electrochemical sensors make use of a chemical reaction that is caused inside the sensor if carbon dioxide is present. The disadvantage is that the sensor can drift or lose accuracy after some time [98].
- A Metal-oxide carbon dioxide sensor is a sensor that uses the resistivity of metal to test the amount of carbon dioxide in the air. This is a very simple (and cheap) technique but it is prone to temperature, humidity, other gases in the air and drift. Usually it is used for higher concentrations and uses ABC (Automatic baseline correction) [99].

In scope of WP1 of the ValuSect project, an accumulation chamber has been made. This accumulation chamber initially contained an electro-chemical CO₂ sensor with a measuring range of 0-10%. When insect emissions were measured, emissions were detected only in the lower measuring range of the sensor (0-1%). The inaccuracy of sensors is dependent on this range: a broader measurement range equals a larger inaccuracy. This made the initial sensor unsuitable for measuring insect emissions. As a result of these findings an extra CO₂ sensor was added with a suitable measurement range usable for the planned experiments. The sensor applied was the KCD-HP-100A-P (0-1%). As black soldier larvae are a new species with a less known emission pattern, both sensors (in the low and high range) can be used for emission measurements.

Nitrous oxide

Nitrous oxide has a significant effect as a greenhouse gas and arises during nitrification and denitrification. Published data on emissions by BSF larvae cover a broad range (Table 7) with values from 1.4 mg per kg of produced dry larvae up to 118. The work of Parodi et al. [94] found that BSFL grown on pig manure had a negligible nitrous oxide emission and no effect of treating the manure with BSFL was found.

The concentration of nitrous oxide in the air can be measured with electrochemical sensors. In comparison with the CO_2 emissions, the concentration of nitrous oxide emitted by insects is

generally lower. Due to the limited emissions of nitrous oxide of the BSFL electrochemical sensors are not suitable. Measurement with NDIR sensors is more accurate. Another option is gas spectroscopy but this brings more sophistication.

Before sensors can be selected a mass balance / simulation has to be made to determine the expected measurement ranges required. When the measurement ranges expected are above 10-20 ppm electrochemical sensors can be selected. If the expected measurement ranges are below 10-20 ppm gas analysis using gas spectroscopy are more suitable.

If the mass balance indicates low emissions of nitrous oxide, measurement is not possible with the use of electrochemical sensors and the measurement has to be executed with gas spectroscopy.

Ammonia

The microbial degradation of proteins catalysed by ureases leads to the formation of the soluble ammonium (NH₄⁺) and the more volatile ammonia (NH₃). The equilibrium between these two components is largely influenced by pH (pKa = 9.25). In an acidic environment ammonium is the predominant form, in alkaline conditions this equilibrium will shift in favour of ammonia. Ammonia emissions that result from BSF rearing have been described [90–92,94–96]. Reported values range from 1.2 up to 548.3 g of N per kg of larvae produced (on a dry matter basis) with a median value of 8.45. However, the highest reported value is inflated due to poor larval growth (i.e. the high feed conversion ratio). In general, ammonia emissions tend to be highest in the second half of larval growth. It is hypothesised that this is related to larval activity. As growing black soldier fly larvae tend to steer the pH of their surroundings up to 9 [41,92], more and more of the ammonium is volatilized as ammonia. Pang et al. [95] was able to reduce ammonia emissions from larvae reared on pig manure by increasing the C/N ratio by mixing the manure with corncob. When nitrogen is not present in excess, larvae will be able to incorporate it in larval protein. Nitrogen compounds that are not incorporated in the larvae are exposed to microbial degradation and could eventually volatilise as ammonia.

From a literature search performed within WP1 of the ValuSect project, the ammonia concentration related to the rearing of mealworms and crickets was expected to be low: too low to be measured with electrochemical sensors. Only measurement using gas spectroscopy was possible, however, this could not be performed within the project. Nevertheless, it must be noted that black soldier fly larvae might emit higher concentrations of ammonia due to differences in substrate properties (compared to mealworms and crickets) as well as a broader range of low-valorised substrate possibilities (i.e. manure, wastes). A mass balance has to be drawn up in order to determine which technology is suitable for measuring emissions related to the rearing of this insect species (i.e. electrochemical, NDIR or gas spectroscopy).

Methane

Methanogenesis is a process that takes place under anaerobic conditions and is catalysed by specific microorganisms from the domain Archaea. Most methanogenes are active in a more neutral pH range and methanogenesis decreases drastically below a pH of 6.2 [100]. Anaerobic

conditions could occur in the liquid feed that is given to the black soldier fly larvae. When the required microorganisms are present, methanogenesis could therefore happen. On non-manure substrates, methane emissions ranged from 5.5 to 49 mg CH₄ per kg dry larval biomass [89,91–93]. However, on substrates that contained manure, values ranged from 257 up to 199,989 mg CH₄ per kg of dry larval biomass [94–96]. These results, and especially the high value, should be interpreted with care. The moisture content of this treatment was increased up to 85%, which resulted in poor larval growth and high methane emissions, inflating the reported methane emitted on a larval basis. Usually methane emissions are highest the first few days after inoculating the substrate with larvae, to gradually decrease afterwards. It is hypothesised that in the first few days larval activity is still rather low, which increases the risk for anaerobic conditions. When the larvae grow larger, the aeration of the substrate will improve and conditions for methanogenesis deteriorate. When starting conditions are too acidic (which is often the case for agri-food by-products), methanogenesis should be low.

The presence of methanogenic microorganisms is especially likely for substrates that originate from the guts of other farmed animals. Despite the considerably higher observed methane emissions, manure should not necessarily be excluded from the list of suitable substrates for rearing black soldier fly larvae. Treating manure with black soldier fly larvae is sometimes even proposed as a way of decreasing methane emissions that would otherwise naturally occur from biodegrading manure. Matos et al. report a decrease of 51.7% of methane emitted by cattle manure and 85.8% for pig manure [101]. However, Parodi et al. observed no significant differences between treated and non-treated pig manure [94].

The measurement of methane was out of scope for WP1 of the ValuSect project, since mealworms and crickets were not reported to emit these in high quantities (referring to the literature report). However, as mentioned above, it must be noted that the black soldier fly insect might emit methane due to different substrate types and properties (e.g. moisture content) compared to crickets and mealworms. Before a suitable sensor for measuring the methane concentration in the air can be selected a mass-balance needs to be executed to determine the needed sensor measurement range. When the range is known the correct sensor technology can be selected.

Odour

It must be considered that rearing black soldier fly larvae on side stream based diets might results in odour problems, which should be managed properly. This needs special consideration for organic wastes rich in nutrient and water content, as these are prone to faster dissolution. The emission of odours around an insect rearing farm can be inconvenient for their direct neighbours. For example, ammonia has been reported to cause odours and even to create a hazardous environment for workers in fly larvae composting and can represent a major pathway for nitrogen losses from the compost produced [20,102]. Nevertheless, Beskin et al. [103] found that larval digestion of organic substances can greatly reduce an array of volatile organic compounds (VOC's) that are known to be odorous. A reduction of 87% of these VOC's was observed in digested versus undigested manure. However, this study did not quantify VOC's that could arise during larval digestion.

In Europe the standard for odour measurements is stated in the EN-13725 [104]. This standard was first published in 2003 and revised in 2022. This standard describes the measurement of the

determination of the odour concentration of an odorous gas sample. The unit of measurement is the European odour unit per cubic metre: ouE/m3. This is measured by determining the dilution factor required to reach the detection threshold. The due to the pre-dilation measurement range starts at > 10 ouE/m3 inluding pre-dilation and only usable at the source. When the odour concentrations are <10 OuE/m3 the odour concentration can be determined with the use of field inspection. This method is defined in the EN16841-1:2016 [105].

In the field measurement method a grid is created around an odorant source. The odour hour frequency for a grid square is determined. Each measurement point is measured repeatedly (for example 26 times at regular intervals over a one-year period). One single measurement result in the test is labelled as 'odour hour' or 'non-odour-hour'. Eventually the odour concentration can be calculated [106].

Dynamic Olfactometry is the standardized method of measuring odour by the European Standard EN. Due to the standardisation this method can be used to compare the odour of BSF breeding to other livestock, landfills, wastewater treatment plant or other odour emissions processes. However, this method includes different samplings during various periods and consequently is a more expensive method. A possible alternative is using an Electronic noses (E-nose), however, this method is not yet standardized [107]. An e-nose uses an array of electrochemical sensors to determine the individual concentrations of gasses present in the (sample air). These concentrations of gasses are not directly usable for an indication of the perceived smell by a human nose [108]. However when electrochemical sensors are used the measurement ranges and accuracy's of those sensors have to be taken into consideration.

Automation of the BSF production process

As industrial black soldier fly production is a relatively new practice in the EU, automated machineries and technologies are currently lacking or in stage of development. This development is a long process as this requires research and understanding of insect needs and behaviour. For instance, process monitoring to determine efficiency losses along the whole production line is crucial for process optimization. This includes determining the overall insect yield (i.e. viable eggs, survival rates, yield/crate). Furthermore, managing insect densities and feeding practices are also important process elements to be optimal [24].

Some insect producing and engineering companies today are already developing automated insects systems, however, these designs are mostly kept secret. Only a couple of engineering companies we know of are interested in building an industry scaled system [109–112]. They offer fully automated breeding systems but as expected, they are not keen to share information about the exact process and machines that they use. Most of these systems are patented or patent pending.

Data base	Keywords	Papers found	Papers with the right information
Google Scholar	"black soldier fly" AND "fully automated ""	70	2
	"black soldier fly" AND "autonomous breeding"	0	0
	"black soldier fly" AND "autonomous system"	0	0
	"black soldier fly" AND "automatic breeding system"	0	0
	"black soldier fly" AND "automatisation"	4	0
	"black soldier fly" AND "automatic rearing"	2	1? (In Korean)
	"black soldier fly" AND "automatic breeding"	1	0
Sciencedirect	"black soldier fly" AND "fully automated "″	6	0

Table 8: keyword search on BSF automation

"black soldier fly" AND "autonomous breeding"	0	0
"black soldier fly" AND "autonomous system"	4	0
"black soldier fly" AND "automatic breeding system"	0	0
"black soldier fly" AND "automatisation"	0	0
"black soldier fly" AND "automatic rearing"	0	0
"black soldier fly" AND "automatic breeding"	0	0

It is clear that currently information regarding insect automation is scarce (Table 8). However, it is very important that this is explored for the inclusion of insects in the society. Due to the lack of publicly available information on automated insect systems, production of insects currently requires much manual and labour-intensive interventions, increasing production costs of insect production and decreasing economic viability of insect production.

To demonstrate this, a BSF process flow is shown in Figure 2. Note that this process flow is an estimation based on the experience of the Inagro insects research centre. However, visualising the BSF process flow, makes it possible to identify the steps which have the most need of automation and thus currently require most manual labour:

Producing black soldier fly larvae is a process that requires a lot of inputs. These inputs are energy, water, feed and manual labour. Especially the latter is a bottleneck for making black soldier fly larvae (and its derived products) a competitive alternative protein source for (pet)feed manufacturers, especially in Western Europe where labour costs are increasing. In order to quantify the amount of labour that is needed in black soldier fly larvae production, the different steps that are required in this process were identified and required labour was estimated.





Figure 2: Process flow on how to produce black soldier fly larvae.

The time spent for each step in the production process is shown in Figure 3. The functional unit (U: 20,000 larvae of harvestable size) was chosen as such, to exclude the influence of diet induced differences in larval end weight. 20,000 larvae is approximately the amount of larvae for one rearing crate of 60 by 40 cm and is likely to yield somewhere between 1.8 and 3.0 kg of live larvae. It is estimated that in a predominantly manual production setting with little mechanical support around 16.5 minutes are needed per U. Larvae production accounts for over 65% of total labour. The influence of the other production steps is relatively less due to the fact that more FU's are produced in these steps. Most gains per U can therefore be made in the former. Within the larvae production step, the majority of time is needed to create batches of 20,000 larvae and to prepare a crate with substrate and add the larvae. Second is cleaning the crates after larvae production. The third most time consuming action occurs during neonate rearing, when the number of 5 day



old larvae in a batch need to be determined. The authors recommend doing so, as it increases the control and lessens the variation later on during larvae production.



Figure 3: Time spend to produce 1 FU (20,000 larvae of harvestable size) for different aspects of a manual production system with minimal mechanisation.

Five steps that can be taken in order to reduce labour in the production process are:

- 1. Automated feed preparation and crate filling
- 2. Investing in a crate cleaning line
- 3. Larvae counter
- 4. Crate de-stacker and mechanical sieve, preferably with frass removal and larvae collector
- 5. Automated egg harvesting

Furthermore, technology to monitor and control the entire production process is needed.

Discussion

As insects have large potential as an alternative, sustainable protein source, they are expected to play an important role in future society. However, as insects for application in food and feed are a relatively new concept in the European Union, this sector in still facing some challenges. For instance, knowledge of insect behaviour, needs and production is still lacking, resulting in a current inefficient and non-optimal production. Consequently, insect-based (feed) products have not yet found their place in the market: costs are high (i.e. manual labour) resulting in an expensive product that is not yet able to compete with current feed protein sources, demand is low and rearing facilities are low-scale. Knowledge gaps for industrial insect production need to be filled in order to become optimised, sustainable and economically viable. Focus must be laid on lowering insect production costs in order to become lower end product prices, which can be done by the use of non-valorised side streams as insect feed, scaling up the processes and limiting manual operations [23–26].

In WP5 of the ValuSect project, we aim to start filling some of these gaps. We have performed this literature search in order to identify some knowledge gaps on insects for feed production, more specifically the black soldier fly. The identified knowledge gaps were categorised in 3 major topics:

- Black soldier fly diets
- Black soldier fly emissions
- Black soldier fly production automation

Black soldier fly diets

Identified as one of the major challenges for the insect production industry, is the development of optimal insect diets [23,25,113]. In order to get a better understanding of this topic, knowledge on black soldier fly dietary requirements was included in this literature review. We found that not much research was available on the **nutritional requirements** of black soldier fly larvae: the keyword search resulted in only a few papers on this topic. Furthermore, a large part of the available information addressed insects in general, and not specifically the black soldier fly. More information was found on the BSF diets abiotic parameters. In addition, some information could been found on the interaction of black soldier fly larvae with microbiota; it is clear this plays an important role in biomass processing by BSF, however, the interactions are currently marginally understood.

It is well known that BSFL can efficiently convert low-value substrates into high value biomass. Furthermore, life cycle analyses (LCA) indicate that the production of black soldier fly larvae can be done more efficiently and cost-effectively if the larvae are reared on low-value biomass [6,18,23,26,30]. Consequently, interest in the production of black soldier fly larvae on side streams has resulted in many studies being generated.

However, due to factors such as legislation, knowledge gaps & instability or storage issues of (fresh) biomass, in practice insects are often produced on diets not specifically designed for these animals. For instance, the use of chicken meal for BSFL. These diets do contain the required

nutrients, but often not in optimal proportions. This may lead to inefficient production and high production costs. In this literature review, two conventional diets were identified that are used as a BSF standard diet worldwide, i.e. Gainesville diet and chicken feed [65,68].

As the topic of BSF production on side streams has already been widely explored, the focus of this literature search was delineated to low-value diets with the most potential for black soldier fly mass rearing, i.e. biomass performing equally or better than the standard diets. Parameters such as FCR, bioconversion efficiency, larval end weight, insect survival & growth curves were taken into account. The literature search was not limited by legislation.

From this literature review, following low-value substrates came forward as potential feed for BSFL production:

- Catering waste
- Chicken/poultry manure
- Beer draff

Catering waste was found the most promising for BSF rearing of all listed [64]. Poultry manure and beer draff seemed to overall perform equally to chicken feed and better than Gainesville diet [19,71].

During the performance of the literature review on BSF production on side streams, another challenge came forward. Even though many publications on this topic were available, it was very difficult to compare results from different research groups. For instance, it is known that the insect rearing conditions highly impact research results, but often these rearing conditions are not or only partly mentioned in conducted studies. Furthermore, for insect feed experiments, diverse methodologies have been applied to quantify the efficiency of conversion (e.g. feed conversion ratio, bioconversion efficiency, etc.). Since there are now numerous methods described and consequently used among studies, comparison of data becomes quite challenging. Also, often different studies implement different insect harvesting strategies and times (i.e. end of experiment). For example, some studies might use the 'appearance of first pupae/adult' as factor to terminate the experiment while others might use a fixed time (e.g. 20 days) or stagnation phase of the growth curve. In addition, some studies exclude a control treatment, which not necessarily decreases the value of the study, however, it might limit the relevance to other studies i.e. comparison.

This was also found by Bosch, et al. [114]. In this publication the authors expressed the need for guidelines on the standardization of black soldier fly feed experiments and created the first base of a protocol for black soldier fly research.

It is clear that there is a great need for robust guidelines and protocols for insect experimental designs and analytical techniques, especially because many research questions still need to be addressed in order to optimise the production and use of insects. Consequently, insect production and processing will become, most likely, an important field of study worldwide. Therefore, it is now the time to set up initiatives to construct procedures & implement **guidelines** on insect research. This is a very important step in order to be able to compare data, join efforts for conducting research and, consequently, promoting the growth of the upcoming insect industry.

In response to this 'gap', the ValuSect consortium has been working on a policy brief to create awareness on this topic and to make suggestions on research guidelines and protocols. Furthermore, a workgroup from the EAAP congress has already been established earlier for the



rearing of BSFL and yellow mealworm for research purposes (feed experiments), of which some of the partners of the ValuSect consortium are part.

In addition, the majority of insect research has been performed on small/laboratory scale. However, this cannot always provide reliable data for larger scale facilities. More **research** should be performed **on realistic/industrial scale** in order to build a bridge between research and practice.

Black soldier fly emissions

From the WP1 literature review performed earlier in the ValuSect project, it was clear that data on insect emissions was still lacking. According to our experience, this topic has an urgency to be addressed as this is not only relevant for breeders to provide themselves with correct infrastructure and safety measures, but also for legislative and licensing authorities. Therefore, emissions related to black soldier fly rearing and measuring methods were included in this literature review. This provides knowledge and information in order to conduct relevant experiments during WP5.

From the literature search it became clear that rearing black soldier fly larvae is accompanied with various emissions and that the kind of emissions is strongly linked to the nature of the rearing substrate. Especially ammonia and methane emissions have been quantified in various studies and these emissions can be considerable when manure was used as a rearing substrate. However, plant-based byproducts from the agri-food chain are not emission free and other factors such as pH, aeration rate or potential overabundance of proteins will be codetermining on how much and which type of emissions will be produced. Among potential emissions the least quantified and hardest to quantify seems to be odour associated with black soldier fly rearing. This should hardly be a surprise as odour is a complex mixture of various compounds that is perceived differently depending on the observer. Some tools such as dynamic olfactometry are available in other industries and should be used in black soldier fly rearing as well to fill in this knowledge gap.

Black soldier fly production automation

As mass production of insects is still in its infancy, machinery and technology that enable the automated production of insects is limited. Consequently, the process currently involves manual labour of many rearing activities, increasing the costs of the production process and therefore end product. Furthermore, the lack on automation withholds the possibility of scaling up the process [23,24,26].

Some insect production facilities today are developing or have developed some technologies for automating the production process, however, they are often not keen on sharing information. Some engineering companies are currently developing software and machinery but often they do not have the practical information and experience to develop relevant products, and/or, are waiting for a market. These products are large investments, which small-scale facilities are often not able to make. Furthermore, development of technology, software and machineries is a long process as this requires research and understanding of insect needs and behaviour.



As not much relevant information is available regarding automation of the insect production process, ValuSect partners involved in WP5 have identified the most labour intensive activities during black soldier fly production. This information can be used by companies to develop relevant technology and machineries. Labour-intensive activities include larvae crate preparation, cleaning, density determination of neonates, harvest of larvae and eggs and feed preparing.

Conclusion & next steps

Through this literature review, partners of WP5 of the ValuSect project aimed to identify knowledge gaps on black soldier fly production. In a next step, an initiation will be made on filling some of these gaps. The knowledge gained will be transferred to the insect for feed sector.

As the rearing of BSF on side streams has already been widely explored, this will not be the focus of the WP5 experiments. Focus will be laid on BSF emissions as in our experience this is an urgent matter to be explored. Furthermore, knowledge on the measurement of emissions has already been gathered in WP1 for yellow mealworm, house cricket and migratory locust. We now aim on transferring this knowledge to insects for feed, i.e. the black soldier fly.

Through this literature review three low-value biomasses have been identified as suitable substrate for black soldier fly (based on insect growth and development parameters), namely catering waste, poultry manure and brewery by-product (beer draff). As these wastes are not similar to each other, they are expected to have different properties regarding emissions and odour. Especially chicken manure is expected to be an extreme regarding odour and therefore considered interesting for emissions measurement. Therefore it is suggested to measure emissions related to BSF rearing on these diets. Data will be compared to conventional black soldier fly diets, i.e. Gainesville diet and chicken feed.

Emissions relevant to measure for BSF and substrates:

- Carbon dioxide
- Ammonia
- Odour (if practically feasible)
- Methane (if practically feasible)

Overview of the actions to be performed in WP5:

		WP5 actions			
1.	Define experimental design				
2.	Optimise measuring methods and provide correct equipment				
3.	Transform accumulation chambre(s)	of WP1 to be suitable	e for BSF		
4.	Contact side stream suppliers				
5.	Emission measurements:	Emission	Method		
•	Gainesville diet	Carbon dioxide	Sensor		
٠	Chicken feed (farmer crumb/start	Ammonia	Sensor		
	mash)	Odour*	To be defined		
٠	Catering waste (Swill)	Methane*	To be defined		
٠	Chicken manure				
•	Beer draff				
6	Reporting				

* With reservation

References

- 1. United Nations, D. of E. and S.A.P.D. *World Population Prospects 2019 Highlights*;
- 2. Pelletier, N.; Tyedmers, P. Forecasting Potential Global Environmental Costs of Livestock Production 2000-2050. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **2010**, *107*, 18371–18374, doi:10.1073/pnas.1004659107.
- 3. FAO The Future of Food and Agriculture: Trends and Challenges; Rome, 2017;
- 4. FAO Global Food Losses and Food Waste; 2011;
- 5. Godfray, H.C.J.; Pretty, J.; Thomas, S.M.; Warham, E.J.; Beddington, J.R. Linking Policy on Climate and Food. *Science* **2011**, *331*, 1013–1014, doi:10.1126/science.1202899.
- 6. Van Huis, A.; Van Itterbeeck, J.; Klunder, H.; Mertens, E.; Halloran, A.; Muir, G.; Vantomme, P. *Edible Insects. Future Prospects for Food and Feed Security*; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, 2013; Vol. 171; ISBN 9789251075951.
- Gómez, B.; Munekata, P.E.S.; Zhu, Z.; Barba, F.J.; Toldrá, F.; Putnik, P.; Bursać Kovačević, D.; Lorenzo, J.M. Challenges and Opportunities Regarding the Use of Alternative Protein Sources: Aquaculture and Insects. *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research* 2019, *89*, 259–295, doi:10.1016/bs.afnr.2019.03.003.
- Onsongo, V.O.; Osuga, I.M.; Gachuiri, C.K.; Wachira, A.M.; Miano, D.M.; Tanga, C.M.; Ekesi, S.; Nakimbugwe, D.; Fiaboe, K.K.M. Insects for Income Generation Through Animal Feed: Effect of Dietary Replacement of Soybean and Fish Meal With Black Soldier Fly Meal on Broiler Growth and Economic Performance. *Journal of Economic Entomology* **2018**, *111*, 1966–1973, doi:10.1093/jee/toy118.
- Diener, S.; Zurbrugg, C.; Tockner, K. Conversion of Organic Material by Black Soldier Fly Larvae: Establishing Optimal Feeding Rates. Waste Management & Research 2009, 27, 603– 610, doi:10.1177/0734242X09103838.
- Oonincx, D.G.A.B.; de Boer, I.J.M. Environmental Impact of the Production of Mealworms as a Protein Source for Humans - A Life Cycle Assessment. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7, 1–6, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051145.
- 11. Mekonnen, M.M.; Hoekstra, A.Y. A Global Assessment of the Water Footprint of Farm Animal Products. *Ecosystems* **2012**, *15*, 401–415, doi:10.1007/s10021-011-9517-8.
- 12. Miglietta, P.P.; De Leo, F.; Ruberti, M.; Massari, S. Mealworms for Food: A Water Footprint Perspective. *Water (Switzerland)* **2015**, *7*, 6190–6203, doi:10.3390/w7116190.
- 13. Rumpold, B.A.; Schlüter, O.K. Potential and Challenges of Insects as an Innovative Source for Food and Feed Production. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies* **2013**, *17*, 1–11, doi:10.1016/j.ifset.2012.11.005.
- Makkar, H.P.S.; Tran, G.; Heuzé, V.; Ankers, P. State-of-the-Art on Use of Insects as Animal Feed. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 2014, 197, 1–33, doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.07.008.
- 15. Raheem, D.; Raposo, A.; Oluwole, O.B.; Nieuwland, M.; Saraiva, A.; Carrascosa, C. Entomophagy: Nutritional, Ecological, Safety and Legislation Aspects. *Food Research*

International **2019**, *126*, 108672.

- 16. Van Huis, A. Potential of Insects as Food and Feed in Assuring Food Security. *Annual Review of Entomology* **2013**, *58*, 563–583, doi:10.1146/annurev-ento-120811-153704.
- 17. Oonincx, D.G.A.B.; Van Broekhoven, S.; Van Huis, A.; Van Loon, J.J.A. Feed Conversion, Survival and Development, and Composition of Four Insect Species on Diets Composed of Food by-Products. *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, 1–20, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0144601.
- 18. Wang, Y.-S.; Shelomi, M. Review of Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia Illucens) as Animal Feed and Human Food. *Foods* **2017**, *6*, 91, doi:10.3390/foods6100091.
- Broeckx, L.; Frooninckx, L.; Slegers, L.; Berrens, S.; Noyens, I.; Goossens, S.; Verheyen, G.;
 Wuyts, A.; Van Miert, S. Growth of Black Soldier Fly Larvae Reared on Organic Side-Streams. Sustainability (Switzerland) 2021, 13, doi:10.3390/su132312953.
- 20. Čičková, H.; Newton, G.L.; Lacy, R.C.; Kozánek, M. The Use of Fly Larvae for Organic Waste Treatment. *Waste Management* **2015**, *35*, 68–80, doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2014.09.026.
- 21. Sheppard, D.C.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Joyce, J.A.; Kiser, B.C.; Sumner, S.M. Rearing Methods for the Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae). *J. Med. Entomol* **2002**, *39*, 695–698, doi:10.1603/0022-2585-39.4.695.
- 22. Diener, S. Valorisation of Organic Solid Waste Using the Black Soldier Fly, Hermetia Illucens, in Low and Middle-Income Countries, ETH Zurich, 2010.
- Surendra, K.C.; Tomberlin, J.K.; van Huis, A.; Cammack, J.A.; Heckmann, L.H.L.; Khanal, S.K. Rethinking Organic Wastes Bioconversion: Evaluating the Potential of the Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia Illucens (L.)) (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) (BSF). *Waste Management* 2020, *117*, 58–80, doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2020.07.050.
- 24. Law, Y.; Wein, L. Reversing the Nutrient Drain through Urban Insect Farming—Opportunities and Challenges. *AIMS Bioengineering* **2018**, *5*, 226–237, doi:10.3934/bioeng.2018.4.226.
- 25. Heckmann, L.H.; Andersen, J.L.; Gianotten, N.; Calis, M.; Fischer, C.H.; Calis, H. Sustainable mealworm production for feed and food. In *Edible Insects in Sustainable Food Systems*; Springer International Publishing: Switzerland, 2018; pp. 321–328.
- Van PhI, C.P.; Walraven, M.; Bézagu, M.; Lefranc, M.; Ray, C. Industrial Symbiosis in Insect Production— A Sustainable Eco-efficient and Circular Business Model. Sustainability 2020, 12, 1–14, doi:10.3390/su122410333.
- 27. Jensen, K.; Kristensen, T.N.; Heckmann, L.L.; Sørensen, J.G. Breeding and maintaining highquality insects Insects as food and feed. In *Insects as food and feed: from production to consumption*; van Huis, A., Tomberlin, J.K., Eds.; Wageningen Academic Publishers: Wageningen, 2017; pp. 174–198.
- 28. Ribeiro, N.; Abelho, M.; Costa, R. A Review of the Scientific Literature for Optimal Conditions for Mass Rearing Tenebrio Molitor (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). *Journal of Entomological Science* **2018**, *53*, 434–454, doi:10.18474/jes17-67.1.
- 29. Kim, W.; Bae, S.; Park, K.; Lee, S.; Choi, Y.; Han, S.; Koh, Y. Biochemical Characterization of Digestive Enzymes in the Black Soldier Fly, Hermetia Illucens (Diptera: Stratiomyidae). *Journal of Asia-Pacific Entomology* **2011**, *14*, 11–14, doi:10.1016/j.aspen.2010.11.003.
- 30. Smetana, S.; Schmitt, E.; Mathys, A. Sustainable Use of Hermetia Illucens Insect Biomass for Feed and Food: Attributional and Consequential Life Cycle Assessment. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* **2019**, *144*, 285–296, doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.01.042.

- 31. Pastor, B.; Velasquez, Y.; Gobbi, P.; Rojo, S. Conversion of Organic Wastes into Fly Larval Biomass: Bottlenecks and Challenges. *Journal of Insects as Food and Feed* **2015**, *1*, 179–193, doi:10.3920/JIFF2014.0024.
- 32. Bosch, G.; Oonincx, D.G.A.B.; Jordan, H.R.; Zhang, J.; van Loon, J.J.A.; van Huis, A.; Tomberlin, J.K. Standardisation of Quantitative Resource Conversion Studies with Black Soldier Fly Larvae. *Journal of Insects as Food and Feed* **2020**, *6*, 95–109.
- Palma, L.; Fernandez-Bayo, J.; Niemeier, D.; Pitesky, M.; VanderGheynst, J.S. Managing High Fiber Food Waste for the Cultivation of Black Soldier Fly Larvae. *NPJ science of food* 2019, *3*, 1–7.
- Brits, D. Improving Feeding Efficiencies of Black Soldier Fly Larvae, Hermetia Illucens (L., 1758)(Diptera: Stratiomyidae: Hermetiinae) through Manipulation of Feeding Conditions for Industrial Mass Rearing, Stellenbosch University, 2017.
- 35. Holmes, A.L.A.; Vanlaerhoven, S.L.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Holmes, L.A.; Vanlaerhoven, S.L. Relative Humidity Effects on the Life History of Hermetia Illucens (Diptera : Stratiomyidae) Relative Humidity Effects on the Life History of Hermetia Illucens (Diptera : Stratiomyidae). **2012**, *41*, 971–978.
- Palma, L.; Ceballos, S.J.; Johnson, P.C.; Niemeier, D.; Pitesky, M.; VanderGheynst, J.S. Cultivation of Black Soldier Fly Larvae on Almond Byproducts: Impacts of Aeration and Moisture on Larvae Growth and Composition. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 2018, *98*, 5893–5900.
- 37. Kalová, M.; Borkovcová, M. Voracious Larvae Hermetia Illucens and Treatment of Selected Types of Biodegradable Waste. *Acta Universitatis Agriculturae et Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunensis* **2013**, *61*, 77–83, doi:10.11118/actaun201361010077.
- 38. Popa, R.; Green, T.R. Using Black Soldier Fly Larvae for Processing Organic Leachates. *Journal of Economic Entomology* **2012**, *105*, 374–378, doi:10.1603/ec11192.
- 39. Alattar, M. Biological Treatment of Leachates of Microaerobic Fermentation, Portland State University, 2012.
- Ma, J.; Lei, Y.; Rehman, K.U.; Yu, Z.; Zhang, J.; Li, W.; Li, Q.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Zheng, L. Dynamic Effects of Initial PH of Substrate on Biological Growth and Metamorphosis of Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae). *Environmental Entomology* **2018**, *47*, 159–165, doi:10.1093/ee/nvx186.
- 41. Meneguz, M.; Gasco, L.; Tomberlin, J.K. Impact of PH and Feeding System on Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia Illucens, L; Diptera: Stratiomyidae) Larval Development. *PLoS ONE* **2018**, *13*, 1–15, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0202591.
- 42. Nash, W.J.; Chapman, T. Effect of Dietary Components on Larval Life History Characteristics in the Medfly (Ceratitis Capitata: Diptera, Tephritidae). *PLoS ONE* **2014**, *9*, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0086029.
- 43. Kim, K.; Jang, T.; Min, K.J.; Lee, K.P. Effects of Dietary Protein:Carbohydrate Balance on Life-History Traits in Six Laboratory Strains of Drosophila Melanogaster. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **2020**, *168*, 482–491, doi:10.1111/eea.12855.
- 44. Cohen, A.C. *Insect Diets: Science and Technology*; CRC press: Arizona, 2005; ISBN 0849315778.
- 45. Roeder, K.A. Dietary Effects on the Performance and Body Composition of the Generalist

Insect Herbivore, Heliothis Virescens, Texas A&M University, 2010.

- 46. Roeder, K.A.; Behmer, S.T. Lifetime Consequences of Food Protein-Carbohydrate Content for an Insect Herbivore. *Functional Ecology* **2014**, *28*, 1135–1143, doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12262.
- 47. Barragan-Fonseca, K.B.; Gort, G.; Dicke, M.; van Loon, J.J.A. Effects of Dietary Protein and Carbohydrate on Life-History Traits and Body Protein and Fat Contents of the Black Soldier Fly Hermetia Illucens. *Physiological Entomology* **2019**, *44*, 148–159, doi:10.1111/phen.12285.
- 48. De Smet, J.; Wynants, E.; Cos, P.; Van Campenhout, L. Microbial Community Dynamics during Rearing of Black Soldier Fly Larvae (Hermetia Illucens) and Impact on Exploitation Potential. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **2018**, *84*, doi:10.1128/AEM.02722-17.
- 49. Danieli, P.P.; Lussiana, C.; Gasco, L.; Amici, A.; Ronchi, B. The Effects of Diet Formulation on the Yield , Proximate Composition , and Fatty Acid Profile of the BSF. *Animals* **2019**, *9*.
- 50. Norgren, R.; Jonsson, A.; Björkqvist, O. Fermented Pulp and Paper Bio-Sludge as Feed for Black Soldier Fly Larvae. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery* **2021**, doi:10.1007/s13399-021-01564-0.
- 51. Liu, Z.; Minor, M.; Morel, P.C.H.; Najar-Rodriguez, A.J. Bioconversion of Three Organic Wastes by Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) Larvae. *Environmental Entomology* **2018**, *47*, 1609–1617, doi:10.1093/ee/nvy141.
- 52. Woods, M.J. The Determination of Nutrient Requirements and Development of Artificial Diets for the Mass Rearing of Insects of Economic Importance, Stellenbosch University, 2017.
- Liland, N.S.; Biancarosa, I.; Araujo, P.; Biemans, D.; Bruckner, C.G.; Waagbø, R.; Torstensen, B.E.; Lock, E.J. Modulation of Nutrient Composition of Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia Illucens) Larvae by Feeding Seaweed-Enriched Media. *PLoS ONE* 2017, *12*, 1–23, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0183188.
- 54. Jiang, C.L.; Jin, W.Z.; Tao, X.H.; Zhang, Q.; Zhu, J.; Feng, S.Y.; Xu, X.H.; Li, H.Y.; Wang, Z.H.; Zhang, Z.J. Black Soldier Fly Larvae (Hermetia Illucens) Strengthen the Metabolic Function of Food Waste Biodegradation by Gut Microbiome. *Microbial Biotechnology* **2019**, *12*, 528–543, doi:10.1111/1751-7915.13393.
- 55. Bessa, L.W.; Pieterse, E.; Marais, J.; Hoffman, L.C. Why for Feed and Not for Human Consumption? The Black Soldier Fly Larvae. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety* **2020**, *19*, 2747–2763, doi:10.1111/1541-4337.12609.
- 56. Klammsteiner, T.; Walter, A.; Bogataj, T.; Heussler, C.D.; Stres, B.; Steiner, F.M.; Arthofer, W.; Insam, H. The Core Gut Microbiome of Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia Illucens) Larvae Raised on Low-Bioburden Diets. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **2020**, *11*, 993, doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00993.
- 57. Shelomi, M.; Wu, M.K.; Chen, S.M.; Huang, J.J.; Burke, C.G. Microbes Associated with Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomiidae) Degradation of Food Waste. *Environmental Entomology* **2020**, *49*, 405–411.
- Vogel, H.; Müller, A.; Heckel, D.G.; Gutzeit, H.; Vilcinskas, A. Nutritional Immunology: Diversification and Diet-Dependent Expression of Antimicrobial Peptides in the Black Soldier Fly Hermetia Illucens. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology* 2018, 78, 141–148, doi:10.1016/j.dci.2017.09.008.
- 59. Wynants, E.; Frooninckx, L.; Crauwels, S.; Verreth, C.; De Smet, J.; Sandrock, C.; Wohlfahrt, J.; Van Schelt, J.; Depraetere, S.; Lievens, B.; et al. Assessing the Microbiota of Black Soldier Fly

Larvae (Hermetia Illucens) Reared on Organic Waste Streams on Four Different Locations at Laboratory and Large Scale. *Microbial Ecology* **2019**, *77*, 913–930, doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-018-1286-x.

- Klammsteiner, T.; Walter, A.; Bogataj, T.; Heussler, C.D.; Stres, B.; Steiner, F.M.; Schlick-Steiner, B.C.; Insam, H. Impact of Processed Food (Canteen and Oil Wastes) on the Development of Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia Illucens) Larvae and Their Gut Microbiome Functions. *Frontiers in microbiology* 2021, *12*, 20, doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.619112.
- 61. Kooienga, E.M.; Baugher, C.; Currin, M.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Jordan, H.R. Effects of Bacterial Supplementation on Black Soldier Fly Growth and Development at Benchtop and Industrial Scale. *Frontiers in Microbiology* **2020**, *11*, 2907.
- 62. Dzepe, D.; Nana, P.; Kuietche, H.M.; Kimpara, J.M.; Magatsing, O.; Tchuinkam, T.; Djouaka, R. Feeding Strategies for Small-Scale Rearing Black Soldier Fly Larvae (Hermetia Illucens) as Organic Waste Recycler. *SN Applied Sciences* **2021**, *3*, 1–9.
- 63. Liu, X.; Chen, X.; Wang, H.; Yang, Q.; Ur Rehman, K.; Li, W.; Cai, M.; Li, Q.; Mazza, L.; Zhang, J.; et al. Dynamic Changes of Nutrient Composition throughout the Entire Life Cycle of Black Soldier Fly. *PLoS ONE* **2017**, *12*, 1–21, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0182601.
- Veldkamp, T.; van Rozen, K.; Elissen, H.; van Wikselaar, P.; van der Weide, R. Bioconversion of Digestate, Pig Manure and Vegetal Residue-based Waste Operated by Black Soldier Fly Larvae, Hermetia Illucens L. (Diptera: Stratiomyidae). *Animals* 2021, *11*, doi:10.3390/ani11113082.
- 65. Hogsette, J.A. New Diets for Production of House Flies and Stable Flies (Diptera: Muscidae) in the Laboratory. *Journal of economic entomology* **1992**, *85*, 2291–2294, doi:10.1093/jee/85.6.2291.
- Gligorescu, A.; Toft, S.; Hauggaard-Nielsen, H.; Axelsen, J.A.; Nielsen, S.A. Development, Metabolism and Nutrient Composition of Black Soldier Fly Larvae (Hermetia Illucens; Diptera: Stratiomyidae) in Relation to Temperature and Diet. *Journal of Insects as Food and Feed* 2018, 4, 123–133, doi:10.3920/JIFF2017.0080.
- Tomberlin, J.K.; Sheppard, D.C.; Joyce, J.A. Selected Life-History Traits of Black Soldier Flies (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) Reared on Three Artificial Diets. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 2002, *95*, 379–386, doi:https://doi.org/10.1603/0013-8746(2002)095[0379:SLHTOB]2.0.CO;2.
- 68. Tomberlin, J.K. Biological, Behavioral, and Toxicological Studies on the Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae), University of Georgia, 2001.
- 69. Pinotti, L.; Giromini, C.; Ottoboni, M.; Tretola, M.; Marchis, D. Review: Insects and Former Foodstuffs for Upgrading Food Waste Biomasses/Streams to Feed Ingredients for Farm Animals. *Animal* **2019**.
- Meneguz, M.; Schiavone, A.; Gai, F.; Dama, A.; Lussiana, C.; Renna, M.; Gasco, L. Effect of Rearing Substrate on Growth Performance, Waste Reduction Efficiency and Chemical Composition of Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia Illucens) Larvae. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 2018, *98*, 5776–5784, doi:10.1002/jsfa.9127.
- Miranda, C.D.; Cammack, J.A.; Tomberlin, J.K. Mass Production of the Black Soldier Fly, Hermetia Illucens (L.), (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) Reared on Three Manure Types. *Animals* 2020, 10, 1243, doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10071243.

- Rehman, K. ur; Cai, M.; Xiao, X.; Zheng, L.; Wang, H.; Soomro, A.A.; Zhou, Y.; Li, W.; Yu, Z.; Zhang, J. Cellulose Decomposition and Larval Biomass Production from the Co-Digestion of Dairy Manure and Chicken Manure by Mini-Livestock (Hermetia Illucens L.). *Journal of Environmental Management* **2017**, *196*, 458–465, doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.03.047.
- 73. Rehman, K. ur; Ur Rehman, R.; Somroo, A.A.; Cai, M.; Zheng, L.; Xiao, X.; Ur Rehman, A.; Rehman, A.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Yu, Z.; et al. Enhanced Bioconversion of Dairy and Chicken Manure by the Interaction of Exogenous Bacteria and Black Soldier Fly Larvae. *Journal of Environmental Management* **2019**, *237*, 75–83, doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.02.048.
- 74. El-Dakar, M.A.; Ramzy, R.R.; Plath, M.; Ji, H. Evaluating the Impact of Bird Manure vs. Mammal Manure on Hermetia Illucens Larvae. *Journal of Cleaner Production* **2021**, *278*, 123570, doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123570.
- 75. St-Hilaire, S.; Cranfill, K.; McGuire, M.A.; Mosley, E.E.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Newton, L.; Sealey, W.; Sheppard, C.; Irving, S. Fish Offal Recycling by the Black Soldier Fly Produces a Foodstuff High in Omega-3 Fatty Acids. **2007**, *38*, 309–313.
- Julita, U.; Suryani, Y.; Kinasih, I.; Yuliawati, A.; Cahyanto, T.; Maryeti, Y.; Permana, A.D.; Fitri, L.L. Growth Performance and Nutritional Composition of Black Soldier Fly, Hermetia Illucens (L), (Diptera : Stratiomyidae) Reared on Horse and Sheep Manure. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* 2018, 187, doi:10.1088/1755-1315/187/1/012071.
- Rehman, K. ur; Rehman, A.; Cai, M.; Zheng, L.; Xiao, X.; Somroo, A.A.; Wang, H.; Li, W.; Yu, Z.; Zhang, J. Conversion of Mixtures of Dairy Manure and Soybean Curd Residue by Black Soldier Fly Larvae (Hermetia Illucens L.). *Journal of Cleaner Production* **2017**, *154*, 366–373, doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.04.019.
- Cammack, J.A.; Tomberlin, J.K. The Impact of Diet Protein and Carbohydrate on Select Life-History Traits of the Black Soldier Fly Hermetia Illucens (L.) (Diptera: Stratiomyidae). *Insects* 2017, 8, doi:10.3390/insects8020056.
- Mazza, L.; Xiao, X.; ur Rehman, K.; Cai, M.; Zhang, D.; Fasulo, S.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Zheng, L.; Soomro, A.A.; Yu, Z.; et al. Management of Chicken Manure Using Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) Larvae Assisted by Companion Bacteria. *Waste Management* 2020, 102, 312– 318, doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2019.10.055.
- ZHANG, J. bin; ZHANG, J.; LI, J. hui; TOMERLIN, J.K.; XIAO, X. peng; ur REHMAN, K.; CAI, M. min; ZHENG, L. yu; YU, Z. niu Black Soldier Fly: A New Vista for Livestock and Poultry Manure Management. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture* 2021, 20, 1167–1179, doi:10.1016/S2095-3119(20)63423-2.
- 81. Tomberlin, J.K.; Adler, P.H.; Myers, H.M. Development of the Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) in Relation to Temperature. *Environmental Entomology* **2009**, *38*, 930–934, doi:10.1603/022.038.0347.
- Myers, H.M.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Lambert, B.D.; Kattes, D. Development of Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) Larvae Fed Dairy Manure. *Environmental entomology* 2014, 37, 11– 15, doi:10.1603/0046-225X(2008)37[11:DOBSFD]2.0.CO;2.
- Alyokhin, A.; Buzza, A.; Beaulieu, J. Effects of Food Substrates and Moxidectin on Development of Black Soldier Fly, Hermetia Illucens. *Journal of Applied Entomology* 2019, 143, 137–143.
- 84. Jucker, C.; Leonardi, M.G.; Rigamonti, I.; Lupi, D.; Savoldelli, S. Brewery's Waste Streams as a Valuable Substrate for Black Soldier Fly Hermetia Illucens (Diptera: Stratiomyidae). *Journal of*

Entomological and Acarological Research 2019, 51, 87–94, doi:10.4081/JEAR.2019.8876.

- FAO Key Facts and Findings Available online: http://www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/197623/icode/ (accessed on 5 January 2022).
- 86. Oonincx, D.G.A.B.; van Itterbeeck, J.; Heetkamp, M.J.W.; van den Brand, H.; van Loon, J.J.A.; van Huis, A. An Exploration on Greenhouse Gas and Ammonia Production by Insect Species Suitable for Animal or Human Consumption. *PLoS ONE* **2010**, *5*, 1–7, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014445.
- 87. Hackstein, J.H.; Stumm, C.K. Methane Production in Terrestrial Arthropods. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **1994**, *91*, 5441–5445.
- Thévenot, A.; Rivera, J.L.; Wilfart, A.; Maillard, F.; Hassouna, M.; Senga-Kiesse, T.; Le Féon, S.;
 Aubin, J. Mealworm Meal for Animal Feed: Environmental Assessment and Sensitivity
 Analysis to Guide Future Prospects. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2018, *170*, 1260–1267.
- 89. Mertenat, A.; Diener, S.; Zurbrügg, C. Black Soldier Fly Biowaste Treatment–Assessment of Global Warming Potential. *Waste management* **2019**, *84*, 173–181.
- 90. Guo, H.; Jiang, C.; Zhang, Z.; Lu, W.; Wang, H. Material Flow Analysis and Life Cycle Assessment of Food Waste Bioconversion by Black Soldier Fly Larvae (Hermetia Illucens L.). Science of The Total Environment **2021**, 750.
- Parodi, A.; De Boer, I.J.; Gerrits, W.J.; Van Loon, J.J.; Heetkamp, M.J.; Van Schelt, J.; Bolhuis, E.J.; Van Zanten, H.H. Bioconversion Efficiencies, Greenhouse Gas and Ammonia Emissions during Black Soldier Fly Rearing–A Mass Balance Approach. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2020, 271, 122488.
- 92. Pang, W.; Hou, D.; Chen, J.; Nowar, E.E.; Li, Z.; Hu, R.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Yu, Z.; Li, Q.; Wang, S. Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Enhancing Carbon and Nitrogen Conversion in Food Wastes by the Black Soldier Fly. *Journal of Environmental Management* **2020**, *260*, 110066.
- 93. Ermolaev, E.; Lalander, C.; Vinnerås, B. Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Small-Scale Fly Larvae Composting with Hermetia Illucens. *Waste Management* **2019**, *96*, 65–74.
- Parodi, A.; Gerrits, W.J.; Van Loon, J.J.; De Boer, I.J.; Aarnink, A.J.; Van Zanten, H.H. Black
 Soldier Fly Reared on Pig Manure: Bioconversion Efficiencies, Nutrients in the Residual
 Material, Greenhouse Gas and Ammonia Emissions. Waste Management 2021, 126, 674–683.
- 95. Pang, W.; Hou, D.; Nowar, E.E.; Chen, H.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, G.; Li, Q.; Wang, S. The Influence on Carbon, Nitrogen Recycling, and Greenhouse Gas Emissions under Different C/N Ratios by Black Soldier Fly. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* **2020**, *27*, 42767–42777.
- 96. Chen, J.; Hou, D.; Pang, W.; Nowar, E.E.; Tomberlin, J.K.; Hu, R.; Chen, H.; Xie, J.; Zhang, J.; Yu, Z.; et al. Effect of Moisture Content on Greenhouse Gas and NH3 Emissions from Pig Manure Converted by Black Soldier Fly. *Science of the Total Environment* **2019**, *697*, 133840, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133840.
- 97. AtlasScientific How Does An NDIR CO2 Sensor Work? Available online: https://atlasscientific.com/blog/how-does-an-ndir-co2-sensor-work/.
- Smith, D. CO2 Sensors: Which Type Should You Be Looking For? Available online: https://learn.kaiterra.com/en/air-academy/carbon-dioxide-sensors (accessed on 9 May 2022).
- 99. Adafruit Adafruit SGP30 TVOC/ECO2 Gas Sensor Available online: https://learn.adafruit.com/adafruit-sgp30-gas-tvoc-eco2-mox-sensor (accessed on 9 May

2022).

- 100. Demirel, B.; Scherer, P. The Roles of Acetotrophic and Hydrogenotrophic Methanogens during Anaerobic Conversion of Biomass to Methane: A Review. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology* **2008**, *7*, 173–190.
- 101. Matos, J.S.; de Aráujo, L.P.; Allaman, I.B.; Lôbo, I.P.; de Oliva, S.T.; Tavares, T.M.; de Almeida Neto, J.A. Evaluation of the Reduction of Methane Emission in Swine and Bovine Manure Treated with Black Soldier Fly Larvae (Hermetia Illucens L.). *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **2021**, *193*, 1–17.
- 102. Lalander, C.H.; Fidjeland, J.; Diener, S.; Eriksson, S.; Vinnerås, B. High Waste-to-Biomass Conversion and Efficient Salmonella Spp. Reduction Using Black Soldier Fly for Waste Recycling. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development* **2014**, *35*, 261–271, doi:10.1007/s13593-014-0235-4.
- Beskin, K. V.; Holcomb, C.D.; Cammack, J.A.; Crippen, T.L.; Knap, A.H.; Sweet, S.T.; Tomberlin, J.K. Larval Digestion of Different Manure Types by the Black Soldier Fly (Diptera: Stratiomyidae) Impacts Associated Volatile Emissions. *Waste Management* 2018, 1–8, doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2018.01.019.
- 104. NEN Stationaire Bronemissies Bepaling van de Geurconcentratie Door Middel van Dynamische Olfactometrie En Geurconcentratie van Stationaire Bronnen Available online: https://www.nen.nl/nen-en-13725-2022-en-293398 (accessed on 9 May 2022).
- 105. NEN Luchtkwaliteit Bepaling van Geurimmissie Met Gebruik van Veldmetingen Deel 1: Gridmeting Available online: https://www.nen.nl/nen-en-16841-1-2016-en-227885 (accessed on 11 May 2022).
- 106. van Harreveld, A.P. Update on the Revised EN 13725:2021. *Chemical Engineering Transactions* **2021**, *85*, doi:10.3303/CET2185020.
- 107. Olores.org Call for E-Nose Standardization Volunteers Available online: https://www.olores.org/en/techniques/instrumental-odour-monitoring-o-sensors/817-callfor-e-nose-standardization-volunteers (accessed on 11 May 2022).
- 108. Bax, C.; Sironi, S.; Capelli, L. How Can Odors Be Measured? An Overview of Methods and Their Applications. *Atmosphere* **2020**, *11*, doi:10.3390/atmos11010092.
- 109. Entocube Farming Available online: https://entocube.com/en/farming/ (accessed on 11 May 2022).
- 110. Ltd, E. Automated Insect Bioreactor Prototype Full Capacity Test Available online: https://www.entoprot.com/2022/03/10/automated-insect-bioreactor-prototype-fullcapacity-test/ (accessed on 11 May 2022).
- 111. Insect Systems Specialised Equipment for Counting Available online: https://www.insect.systems/ (accessed on 11 May 2022).
- 112. Group, V. Insect Farming Technology Available online: https://viscongroup.eu/markets/insects/ (accessed on 11 May 2022).
- 113. Jensen, K.; Kristensen, T.N.; Heckmann, L.H.; Sørensen, J.G. Breeding and maintaining highquality insects. In *Insects as Food and Feed: From Production to Consumption*; Van Huis, A., Tomberlin, J.K., Eds.; Wageningen Academic Publishers: Wageningen, 2017; pp. 175–198.
- 114. Bosch, G.; Oonincx, D.G.A.B.; Jordan, H.R.; Zhang, J.; van Loon, J.J.A.; van Huis, A.; Tomberlin, J.K. Standardisation of Quantitative Resource Conversion Studies with Black Soldier Fly



Larvae. *Journal of Insects as Food and Feed* **2020**, *6*, 95–109, doi:10.3920/jiff2019.0004.





